

Available online at www.sciencedirect.com





Clinica Chimica Acta 363 (2006) 83-94

Review

www.elsevier.com/locate/clinchim

Pyrosequencing: History, biochemistry and future

Afshin Ahmadian, Maria Ehn, Sophia Hober*

Department of Biotechnology, Royal Institute of Technology (KTH), SE-106 91 Stockholm, Sweden

Received 3 April 2005; accepted 27 April 2005 Available online 13 September 2005

Abstract

Background: Pyrosequencing is a DNA sequencing technology based on the sequencing-by-synthesis principle.

Methods: The technique is built on a 4-enzyme real-time monitoring of DNA synthesis by bioluminescence using a cascade that upon nucleotide incorporation ends in a detectable light signal (bioluminescence). The detection system is based on the pyrophosphate released when a nucleotide is introduced in the DNA-strand. Thereby, the signal can be quantitatively connected to the number of bases added. Currently, the technique is limited to analysis of short DNA sequences exemplified by single-nucleotide polymorphism analysis and genotyping. Mutation detection and single-nucleotide polymorphism genotyping require screening of large samples of materials and therefore the importance of high-throughput DNA analysis techniques is significant. In order to expand the field for pyrosequencing, the read length needs to be improved.

Conclusions: Th pyrosequencing system is based on an enzymatic system. There are different current and future applications of this technique.

© 2005 Elsevier B.V. All rights reserved.

Keywords: Pyrosequencing; Real-time monitoring; SNP; Bioluminscence

Contents

1.	Introduction	84
	1.1. Overview of DNA sequencing technologies.	84
	1.2. Different techniques-different applications	84
2.	Sequencing by synthesis	85
	2.1. History	85
	2.2. The pyrosequencing principle	85
	2.3. Pyrosequencing enzymes	86
	2.3.1. Klenow DNA polymerase	86
	2.3.2. ATP sulfurylase	86
	2.3.3. Luciferase	87
	2.3.4. Apyrase	87
3.	Analytical performance	87
	3.1. SSB as a means for prolonging read length	88
4.	Applications	89
	4.1. Scanning for undefined mutations	89
	4.2. SNP genotyping	89

E-mail address: sophia.hober@biotech.kth.se (S. Hober).

^{*} Corresponding author. Dept. of Biotechnology, KTH, AlbaNova University Center Roslagstullsbacken 21, S-106 91 Stockholm, Sweden. Tel.: +46 8 553 783 30; fax: +46 8 553 784 81.

	4.3.	Bacterial genotyping.	89
	4.4.	Viral genotyping.	90
	4.5.	Tag sequencing	90
5.	Future	e	90
6.	Concl	luding remarks	91
Ref	erences	3	92

1. Introduction

1.1. Overview of DNA sequencing technologies

During the latter part of the 20th century, the innovation of a range of DNA sequencing techniques enabled a revolution in the field of molecular biology. In the 1970s, technologies for sequence determination of DNA were invented, both by Maxam-Gilbert [1] and Sanger [2], and these techniques enormously increased the possibilities of genetic research. The complete DNA sequences of whole genomes are currently known for an increasing number of organisms including the human [3,4]. Detection of genetic variations in a large number of samples representing a broad range of biological material give insight into genetic mechanisms of different diseases. Even with an increasing number of genomes already sequenced, the importance of technical developments in the field of DNA analysis is evident. The number of DNA sequencing technologies is currently high. Different techniques are advantageous over others depending on the application and therefore, a general ranking of the technologies may be incorporated or misleading. The invention of the Sanger DNA sequencing technique in 1977 [2] revolutionized DNA sequencing technology. This sequencing technology is undoubtedly, by far the most frequently used, exemplified by sequencing of various genomes such as the human. The Sanger DNA sequencing technique is based on DNA synthesis with incorporation of normal dNTPs as well as ddNTPs causing a termination of the newly synthesized DNA molecule. Thus, the prematurely ended fragments can be analyzed with regard to size. The size separation of the Sanger fragments are usually performed by electrophoretic separation although mass spectrometry analysis has also been described [5,6]. Since the different dideoxy nucleotides are used in different tubes or alternatively marked with different fluorophores the DNA sequence can be deduced from these results. Another DNA sequencing technique presented by Maxam and Gilbert in 1977 is based on sequencing by chemical cleavage [1]. In this technique, the DNA fragments are generated either by digestion of the sequencing template by restriction enzymes or PCR amplification with the ends of the fragments labeled, traditionally by radioactivity. Single stranded DNA fragments radioactively labeled at one end are isolated and subjected to chemical cleavage of base positions. Four parallel cleavage reactions are performed, each one resulting

in cleavage after one specific base. The sequence is deduced from the gel separation pattern like in the Sanger DNA sequencing method. In 1975, Ed Southern [7] presented a technique for detection of specific DNA sequences using hybridization of complementary probes. This principle lays the foundation for the sequencing by hybridization (SBH) technology presented in 1988 [8,9]. Sequencing by hybridization utilizes a large number of short nested oligonucleotides immobilized on a solid support to which the labeled sequencing template is hybridized. The target sequence is deduced by computer analysis of the hybridization pattern of the sample DNA. DNA sequences can also be analyzed by sequencing by synthesis. Pyrosequencing is a sequencing method based on real-time monitoring of the DNA synthesis. It is a four-enzyme DNA sequencing technology monitoring the DNA synthesis detected by bioluminescence [10]. The system is thoroughly described in this paper.

1.2. Different techniques-different applications

Sequencing technologies like Sanger, Maxam and Gilbert and pyrosequencing have the ability to determine unknown DNA sequence, de novo sequence determination. In contrast, sequencing by hybridization (SBH) is mainly suitable for detection of genetic variations within known DNA sequences, re-sequencing. SBH may also be employed for certain applications such as genotyping samples with well-characterized genetic variations such as single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs). However, the extremely small differences in duplex stability between a perfect match and a one-base mismatch duplex may limit the reliability and applicability of this technology [11]. This difficulties can be relieved by use of probes made of Peptide Nucleic Acid, PNA, or Locked Nucleic Acids, LNA, which forms duplexes with DNA with higher melting point than the corresponding DNA–DNA duplex [12–14]. However, currently the price of these molecules is significantly higher compared to DNA.

The read length and accuracy of the obtained sequences is of crucial importance for the choice of sequencing technology. In the case of the Maxam and Gilbert technique read length up to 500 bp has been achieved [15]. Nevertheless, the occurrence of incomplete reactions usually decreases the read length. Using Sanger sequencing followed by separation by capillary gel electrophoresis, the average read-length obtained is typically between five hundred and thousand bases. Several commercial systems are available for this technology and development in capillary electrophoretic equipment has enabled rapid and accurate determination of up to significantly above thousand bases [16]. However, when using sequence technology for identification of genetic variants such as SNP genotyping, bacterial- or virus typing, detection of specific mutations, gene identification in transcript analysis, etc., the read-length required is much shorter. In these cases, running a several hour experiment for obtaining sequences of several hundred bases is not meaningful. In such cases, faster sequence analysis methods like pyrosequencing are very attractive and have been successfully used [17-32]. Moreover, the use of directed base dispension in pyrosequencing analysis of SNPs in close proximity to each other enables haplotype profiling that is not possible using Sanger DNA sequencing.

One important argument for the choice of sequencing technique is the amount of work and time required as well the possibility for automation of different steps. In the sequencing methods described above a step of template amplification performed by Polymerase Chain Reaction, PCR [33] is generally required. A PCR clean up prior to sequence analysis is necessary and a vast number of commercial solutions are available for this purpose. If using the pyrosequencing technology, the purified PCR samples are directly analyzed by real-time monitoring of the DNA synthesis. In turn, when using Sanger DNA sequencing, the sequencing reaction is followed by purification and thereafter separation of the Sanger DNA fragments. The fragment purification has mainly been performed by ethanol precipitation which includes several manual operations and therefore does not readily lend itself to automation. However, alternative techniques such as separation using magnetic beads are available [34]. Although the Sanger DNA sequencing methods can be highly automated, the higher analysis time compared to pyrosequencing decreases its suitability when only shorter sequences are required. The chemical reactions in the Maxam and Gilbert technique are slow and involve hazardous chemicals that require special handling in the DNA cleavage reactions. Therefore, this technology has not been suitable for large-scale investigations. Sequencing by hybridization would, if the accuracy and reliability of the technique were sufficient, provide a very fast analysis of a specific sequence.

2. Sequencing by synthesis

2.1. History

The real time monitoring of DNA synthesis, the sequencingby-synthesis principle, was first described in 1985 [35]. The technique is based on sequential addition of nucleotides to a primed template and the sequence of the template is deduced from the order different nucleotides are incorporated into the growing DNA chain which is complementary to the target template. In 1987, P. Nyrén described how DNA polymerase activity can be monitored by bioluminescence [36,37]. Recently fluorescently labeled nucleotides have been used for sequencing by synthesis. In order to minimize unwanted termination and to be able to measure the incorporated nucleotides the labeling group is removable. This has been accomplished both by photocleavage and cleavage by reduction [38,39]. When detecting the incorporation of nucleotides with luminescence, a number of different enzymes are needed. In the early days this sequence technology utilized six different sequential columns with immobilized enzymes to pass the nucleotides through upon each base addition [37]. Ten years later, the pyrosequencing DNA sequencing method was presented [10] enabling faster bioluminometric real-time sequence determination in solution.

2.2. The pyrosequencing principle

The 4 enzymes included in the pyrosequencing system are the Klenow fragment of DNA Polymerase I [40], ATP sulfurylase [41], Luciferase [42] and Apyrase [43] (Fig. 1). The reaction mixture also contains the enzyme substrates adenosine phosphosulfate (APS), D-luciferin and the sequencing template with an annealed primer to be used as starting material for the DNA polymerase. The four nucleotides are added one at a time, iteratively, in a cyclic manner and a CCD camera detects the light produced.

The enzymatic reactions exploited in the pyrosequencing technology, with catalyzing enzyme given in the reaction in parentheses, are the following. The first reaction, the DNA polymerization, occurs if the added nucleotide forms a base pair with the sequencing template and thereby is incorporated into the growing DNA strand.

$$(DNA)_n + dNTP \rightarrow (DNA)_{n+1} + PP_i(Polymerase).$$
 (1)

The inorganic pyrophosphate, PP_i , released by the Klenow DNA polymerase serves as substrate for ATP Sulfurylase, which produces ATP:

$$PP_{i} + APS \rightarrow ATP + SO_{4}^{2-}(ATP \text{ Sulfurylase}).$$
(2)

Through the third and fourth reactions, the ATP is converted to light by Luciferase and the light signal is detected. Hence, only if the correct nucleotide is added to the reaction mixture, light is produced.

Luciferase + D - luciferin + ATP
$$\rightarrow$$
Luciferase - luciferin - AMP + PP_i (3)

 $Luciferase - luciferin - AMP + O_2 {\rightarrow} Luciferase +$

$$oxyluce ferin + AMP + CO_2 + light$$
(4)

Apyrase removes unincorporated nucleotides and ATP between the additions of different bases.

$$ATP \rightarrow AMP + 2P_i(Apyrase)$$
(5)

$$dNTP \rightarrow dNMP + 2P_i(Apyrase).$$
 (6)

This degradation between base additions is crucial for synchronized DNA synthesis asserting that the light signal



Fig. 1. Schematic representation of the pyrosequencing enzyme system. If the added dNTP forms a base pair with the template, Klenow Polymerase incorporates it into the growing DNA strand and pyrophospate (PPi) is released. ATP Sulfurylase converts the PPi into ATP which serves as substrate for the light producing enzyme Luciferase. The produced light is detected as evidence of that nucleotide incorporation has taken place.

detected when adding a certain nucleotide only arises from incorporation of that specific nucleotide.

2.3. Pyrosequencing enzymes

The performance of the four enzymes is crucial for the accuracy of this DNA sequencing technology. Their basic characteristics and influence on the quality of the pyrosequencing result is therefore discussed below.

2.3.1. Klenow DNA polymerase

DNA polymerases (E.C. 2.7.7.7) catalyze DNA polymerization in replication and repair and are thus crucial for survival of all living cells [44]. *Escherichia coli* DNA polymerase I is the most extensively studied polymerase and possess, in addition to polymerase activity, both $3' \rightarrow 5'$ and $5' \rightarrow 3'$ exonuclease activity. Proteolytic cleavage of the native 109 kDa polymerase by subtilisin results in one smaller proteolytic fragment harboring $5' \rightarrow 3'$ exonuclease activity and one larger fragment, called Klenow polymerase, that possess both polymerase and $3' \rightarrow 5'$ exonuclease activity [40]. However, by mutating only two amino acids, an exonuclease deficient (exo⁻) Klenow with intact structure and polymerase activity variant has been created [45]. In pyrosequencing, the (exo⁻) Klenow polymerase is used for extension of the primer and simultaneous release of PP_i. The deficiency of the $3' \rightarrow 5'$ exonuclease activity is important in order to avoid unsynchronized DNA polymerization. Although, the (exo⁻) Klenow used in pyrosequencing is devoid of the proofreading $3' \rightarrow 5'$ exonuclease activity from DNA polymerase I, several mechanisms in the DNA extension ensure high fidelity of base insertion. Firstly, the binding of the correct nucleotide is stronger than binding of an incorrect one [46]. Secondly, the necessary conformational change from open to closed conformation takes place only upon binding of the correct nucleotide. This conformational change positions the 3'OH and the dNTP for the nucleophilic attack and thereby determines the rate of phosphodiester bond formation [47-50]. After formation of the phosphodiester, a conformational change slows dissociation of the incorrect DNA products from Klenow and in use of (exo^+) Klenow, $3' \rightarrow 5'$ exonuclease activity removes the incorrect base [51]. However, in pyrosequencing with (exo⁻) Klenow, the slower kinetic mechanism for mismatch incorporation is exploited by the use of Apyrase so that mismatch incorporation is efficiently eliminated [52].

2.3.2. ATP sulfurylase

The second reaction in pyrosequencing technology, namely the production of ATP from PP_i released upon DNA polymerization, is catalyzed by ATP sulfurylase (E.C. 2.7.7.4). ATP sulfurylase is involved in vivo in sulfur

activation by producing APS from ATP and SO_4^{2-} [41]. The produced adenosine phosphosulfate, APS, is further phosphorylated by APS kinase into adenosine 3'-phospate 5'phosphosulphate, PAPS, which is used for synthesis of various sulfur containing compounds. The equilibrium of the reaction catalyzed by ATP sulfurylase is naturally very unfavorable for APS production but the removal of APS and PP_i by APS kinase and inorganic pyrophosphatase pulls the reaction to the right [41]. Hence, being uncoupled, the ATP Sulfurylase catalyzed reaction is favorable for ATP synthesis from PP_i and this is exploited in the second reaction in the pyrosequencing technology (2).

ATP sulfurylase has been found in a broad range of organisms such as yeast and filamentous fungi [41], spinach leaf [53] and rat [54]. However, the first ATP sulphurylase was cloned from the *MET3* gene on chromosome X of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* yeast and this is currently the only commercially available enzyme. This enzyme is a 315 kDa homo hexamer [41] that has been successfully produced intracellularly in *E. coli* for use in pyrosequencing technology [55].

2.3.3. Luciferase

Luciferase (E.C. 1.13.12.7) catalyses the light production from ATP detected in pyrosequencing. Variants of the enzyme are used for light production in all bioluminescent organisms. The light emission from each species is characterized by the color and the flashing pattern. The color of the emitted light, which is determined by the active site of the luciferase, varies between species from green $(\lambda_{\text{max}} \approx 543 \text{ nm})$ to red $(\lambda_{\text{max}} \approx 620 \text{ nm})$. Moreover, each beetle emits a distinct flashing pattern that is recognized by the opposite sex of the species [56–60].

The most extensively used luciferase that first was cloned and is the only commercial variant originates from the North American firefly *Photinus pyralis* [57]. This luciferase is a 61 kDa enzyme which produces light in the green-yellow region (550–590 nm) with an emission maximum at 562 nm at physiological pH [61]. The light production performed by the *P. pyralis* luciferase is rather efficient with 0.88 photons produced per luciferin molecule consumed [62]. In the first luciferase-catalyzed reaction, the enzyme undergoes a conformational change upon forming a complex with D-luciferin in presence of magnesium ions according to Eq. (3). Successively, light production takes place through oxidative carboxylation of the luciferyladenylate (Eq. (4)).

Since luciferase can produce light from dATP but no other nucleotides, a modified A nucleotide, dATP-S, is used instead of dATP in the pyrosequencing polymerization [10]. In pyrosequencing technology, the low thermostability of luciferase limits the reaction temperature to 25 °C. Since the temperature optimum for several other enzymes is higher, an increased reaction temperature might shorten the analysis time and decrease background signals. However, various strategies have been used to increase the thermostability of luciferase such as addition of stabilizing compounds [63,64] and site-specific mutagenesis [65,66].

P. pyralis luciferase was originally purified from the firefly tails but extensive isolation was required since contaminant in the tails interfered with the light production [67-72], After cloning of the gene, recombinant luciferase production in *E. coli* has been performed [57,73]. By use of gene fusion technology, purification tags such as protein A [74,75] has enabled rapid purification as well as immobilization of the enzyme on solid supports.

2.3.4. Apyrase

Apyrase (E.C. 3.6.1.5) is included in the pyrosequencing technology for degradation of unincorporated nucleotides and excess ATP between base additions. Apyrases and ecto-ATPases are E-type ATPases, a group of enzymes different from other ATPases by several aspects. Most important, their activity is dependent on divalent cations, mainly Ca^{2+} or Mg^{2+} [76,77]. E-type ATPases play diverse important roles in biological processes as modulation of neural cell activity [78], prevention of intravascular thrombosis [79,80], regulation of immune response [81], protein glycolyzation and sugar level control [82] as well as regulation of membrane integrity [83]. However, apyrases differ from ecto-ATPases since they can hydrolyze nucleoside tri-, di- and mono-phosphates and thus have lower substrate specificity [77]. Apyrases have been described in various animal tissues and organisms [84,85]. However, the only commercially available apyrases, which are the most extensively studied, originate from potato tubers Solanum tuberosum. Several isoenzymes from different clonal varieties of S. tuberosum have been isolated and characterized although the best known are those of the Pimpernel and Desirée types [86]. The 2 apyrases have the same size (49 kDa) but different isoelectric points, pI [76]. The most important characteristic for use in pyrosequencing technology is the ratio between ATP and ADP hydrolysis rates since a high ratio increases the efficiency of nucleotide degradation [87]. Thus, since the ratio is ten for apyrase from the Pimpernel and one for that from Desirée, Pimpernel apyrase from S. tuberosum is used in pyrosequencing.

3. Analytical performance

In order to increase the use of the pyrosequencing technology platform, further improvements were made. One problem addressed was the limited read length obtained. The use of pyrosequencing technology is currently restricted to analyses of short DNA sequences exemplified by mutation detection [24-27] and single nucleotide polymorphism, SNP, analysis [17-20,22,23]. The factors limiting read length in pyrosequencing can be divided into three major groups: background sequence, plus and minus frameshift [32]. However, to extend the use of the

pyrosequencing technology to applications such as sequencing DNA libraries for gene identification, prolonged read lengths are required for acquisition of sufficient amounts of data.

3.1. SSB as a means for prolonging read length

E. coli single-stranded DNA binding protein, SSB, stabilizes single stranded DNA, ssDNA, by binding to it and thereby protecting it from degradation and formation of secondary structures [88,89]. This property has been exploited in several DNA applications [90-94] including pyrosequencing [26,29,31,32,95,96] where the sequence quality has been improved by addition of the protein. In one study, a systematic effort was made to analyze the positive effect of SSB on template with different characteristics [32]. The template material used consisted of PCR products from a cDNA library used in a transcript profiling study where the pyrosequencing technology had been compared to Sanger sequencing [32]. The read length in pyrosequencing both with and without SSB was correlated to the PCR product length (Fig. 2). Results from these experiments show that the pyrosequencing read length is dramatically increased by addition of SSB. Furthermore, the sequence quality decreases with increasing PCR product length (Fig. 2). In the following analysis, the causes of low quality sequences from different templates were characterized by thorough investigation of the pyrograms. The data show that the major limiting factor for longer DNA templates (>600 bp) is background sequence that occurs very early in the program, thereby limiting the read length significantly. These background disturbances are probably caused by primer mis-annealing and their occurrence can efficiently be suppressed by SSB addition.

Plus frameshift is caused by insufficient apyrase activity causing incomplete nucleotide degradation between subsequent base dispensions. Small amounts of nucleotide from preceding base dispensions cause non-synchronized extension with a population of templates being ahead of the majority. Addition of SSB decreases the intensity of the plus frameshift peak as well as suppresses the unspecific background so efficiently that the risk of interpreting the plus shift peak as a normal signal is minimized. Minus shift is caused by insufficient Klenow activity. In homopolymeric stretches of more than three or four identical nucleotides, poor Klenow activity might result in incomplete template extension during the base dispension. Further polymerization of the template will not take place before the second dispension with the identical nucleotide where a minus frameshift peak is detected. The SSB protein also reduces the minus shift phenomenon. This positive effect of SSB might be due disruption of secondary structures in the ssDNA by SSB. Since shift phenomena are sequence dependent, these problems occur on templates of all length although the probability of finding homopolymeric stretches in a PCR product increases with the length of the DNA fragment. For short and intermediate DNA templates, SSB decreases the limiting effects of all factors. For longer templates, background sequence is completely suppressed by SSB and longer reads are obtained. Since the read length increases for these clones, other limiting factors occur although for 50% of the clones, more than 25 bases can be read from the pyrograms.

Attempts were made to increase the primer annealing efficiency and thereby signal intensity through use of elevated amounts of primer in the annealing reaction [32]. Although the signal intensity was increased, aggravated background disturbance and non-proportional signals rad-



Fig. 2. Correlation between read length in pyrosequencing and length of PCR products with and without SSB is shown. Samples with SSB in the pyrosequencing reaction are marked as triangles and samples without SSB are shown as black circles. The plotted lines with (higher line) and without SSB (lower line) are linear fits of average read length and PCR product length.

ically reduced the read length. Inclusion of an extra washing step after primer annealing partially relieved those problems but the read length was still much lower than when using less primer. These results show that SSB addition is a simple and rapid measure to be taken for obtaining a general improvement of sequence data quality. Moreover, the attempts to increase primer annealing efficiency indicate that non-hybridized ssDNA in solution disturbs the pyrosequencing enzymes and impair their performance.

4. Applications

An important feature of the pyrosequencing technique is its ability to sequence at least 20 bases. This characteristic allows numerous applications such as sequencing and determining known as well as unknown polymorphic positions, microbial typing and tag sequencing.

4.1. Scanning for undefined mutations

Detection of unknown mutations in known sequences is normally denoted re-sequencing. However, pyrosequencing has in most cases been used for re-sequencing of a few number of selected hotspot codons [97-99] but in one study the ability of using pyrosequencing for sequencing exons 5 to 8 of the p53 gene has been investigated [26]. In the study published by Garcia et al. [26], a set of sequencing primers was designed to cover the 4 exons of the p53 gene. Pyrosequencing was performed on an amplified DNA template and overlapping sequences were assembled to determine the sequence of the p53 gene. Two forms of nucleotide dispensation strategies were used, cyclic and programmed. In the cyclic dispensation strategy, nucleotides were repeatedly added in the order A. G. T and C while in the programmed strategy the order of nucleotide dispensation was pre-defined according to the wild type consensus sequence. The use of programmed dispensation approach allows longer read length with fewer primers, faster readout and less frame-shifts in the determined sequence. Although using pyrosequencing in re-sequencing permits detection of the mutation, nonsynchronized extension may appear in the sequence after the polymorphic position, which generally yields noninterpretable data. Nevertheless, the detected mutation can readily be quantified and in the cases of heterogeneous tumor material mutation signals as low as 10-20% may be detected [24].

4.2. SNP genotyping

The problems with read-length and appearance of nonsynchronized sequences after a polymorphic position has so far limited the use of pyrosequencing in re-sequencing and detection of unknown mutations. However, if the polymorphic position is known (e.g. single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs)), the number of sequenced bases usually does not need to exceed 4-10 bases and thus the read-length of pyrosequencing does not become a limiting factor. In addition, it is possible to use a programmed nucleotide delivery to maintain synchronized extension of alleles and thereby obtain high quality sequence peaks even after the polymorphic position. This factor has strongly contributed to associate the pyrosequencing method with analysis of single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) [17,19,20,22,25,31,100,101]. A feature of pyrosequencing in typing SNPs is that each allele combination (homozygous, heterozygous) confers a specific pattern compared to the two other variants (Fig. 3). Thus, it is rather easy to score the allelic status by pattern recognition software. Even here, two different orders of nucleotide additions, cyclic and sequential (programmed), may be tried. In both cases, SNP determination starts with analysis of nucleotide(s) preceding the investigated position. This step serves as a positive control of the amplification process as well as calibration of peaks and reaction conditions. The advantage of using cyclic addition of nucleotides is that it results in three distinctive patterns at the polymorphic sites due to non-synchronized extensions. This is also a unique feature of this technology, which allows haplotype determination when two or more SNPs are in vicinity of each other [24,102]. In contrast, the sequential nucleotide addition generates differences in three peak positions and is designed so that the individual allele extensions are in phase. Thereafter, further nucleotide additions will give the consensus sequence of the target and can improve raw data interpretation.

4.3. Bacterial genotyping

The identification of bacterial strains usually involves sequencing of the 16S rRNA gene. The 16S rRNA gene (16S rDNA) contains highly conserved regions that are flanking variable and species specific sequences [103]. Several studies have reported the usefulness of pyrosequencing technology for bacterial typing by sequencing the variable region of the 16S rRNA gene. The typing involves a nucleic acid amplification using universal primers targeting the conserved sequences and sequencing of the flanking variable region by one of the amplifying primers. Monstein et al. [28] employed the technique to identify and subtype variable V1 and V2 regions of Helicobacter pylori. The same group pyrosequenced 16S rRNA to distinguish pathogenic bacteria from commensals or saprophytic bacteria found in the same habitat [104] and to identify contaminated bacteria in industrial water systems. However, in order to distinguish closely related bacterial strains by pyrosequencing, longer read-lengths may be necessary. To overcome the read-length limitation in 16S rRNA studies, Gharizadeh et al. [105] suggest the use of multiple groupspecific sequencing primers. In this approach, a pool of

5'-GTTTTCTGTTGTAAATGCC[T/G]TTTACAAA 3'-....CAAAAGACAACATTTACGG[A/C]AAATGTTTGTAACT......5'



Fig. 3. Analysis of single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) by pyrosequencing. The amplified target DNA (indicated by black letters) is primed by a sequencing primer (green letters). Pyrosequencing (red letters) is initiated by incorporation of a C nucleotide (serving as calibration of signals) and the order of nucleotide addition after this nucleotide is T-G-T-A-C-A. The polymorphic position in this case is situated after the first incorporated nucleotide and is a T to G substitution. This order of nucleotide addition renders three distinct pyrosequencing patterns (one for each genotype). The raw data (right) is then compared to theoretical patterns (left) and the genotype can easily be assessed.

pyrosequencing primers is added but only one of the primers hybridizes to the template and functions as sequencing primer. The hybridized primer from the pool is specific for a semi-conservative region and enables primer hybridization closer to a variable region leading to "win of read-length".

4.4. Viral genotyping

The pyrosequencing technology has been employed in genotyping of viruses with heterogeneous sequences. In an early report, O'Meara et al. [29] investigated the feasibility of using pyrosequencing as a genotyping tool to characterize the presence of drug resistance mutations in protease inhibitors (PIs) of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1). The study included use of 12 pyrosequencing primers to cover 33 codons that are implicated in 52 drug resistance mutations. Gharizadeh et al. [106] used pyrosequencing for genotyping of human papillomaviruses (HPV) that are believed to be the major cause of cervix cancer. Since more than 100 HPV types with extreme heterogeneous sequences are reported to exist, the amplification needs to be carried out on semi-conservative regions by the use of degenerative general primers and the pyrosequencing is performed by one of these PCR primers. However, the use of a PCR primer as pyrosequencing primer causes difficulties when unspecific amplifications occur. In addition, occurrence of clinically important multiple HPV types are quite common and in these cases, mixed sequence peaks make the analysis very difficult. In a later publication [107], the authors suggest the use of a pool of 4 type-specific primers (4 clinically interesting HPV types) to avoid problems associated with unspecific PCR fragments. Nevertheless, the specific typing will require special "pattern recognition" software or separate sequencing reactions for each of the 4 type-specific primers, if the sample comprises more than one HPV type of interest. Other applications of pyrosequencing involve genotyping of hepatitis C virus (HCV) [108,109] and hepatitis B virus (HBV) [110].

4.5. Tag sequencing

Expressed sequence tag (EST) sequencing has had an enormous influence on expression profiling and identification of differentially expressed genes that have not been present in databases. It has been proposed that short gene specific nucleotide sequence tags (approximately 8-13 bases) should give sufficient information to identify a transcript [111]. However, to uniquely identify a transcript, longer read-length than 8-13 bases may be needed and thus pyrosequencing can be an alternative method. In two studies, the feasibility of pyrosequencing for tag sequencing has been investigated [32,95]. In both reports an average read length of 25-30 bases was achieved, demonstrating the reliability of the technique to uniquely identify transcripts in complex organisms.

5. Future

The pyrosequencing technology is currently used in 96 or 384 plate format but to be a high throughput technology, an improved sample capacity would be beneficial. One way of doing this would be to use micromachined filter-chamber arrays where parallel analyses of nano-liter samples can be monitored in real-time. In this experimental setup, the DNA sample is immobilized on beads trapped in a filter chamber that allows for injection of solutions into the chamber and transport through the cell to the outlet. Microfluidic systems containing several parallel chambers have been produced. Moreover, SNP analysis by the use of pyrosequencing

chemistry has been performed in filter-chamber systems [112,113]. However, since the filter chamber allows passage of all pyrosequencing enzymes through the chamber, the light produced in the SNP analysis was detected in the sample outlet. This lack of light localization within the chamber is a great disadvantage since only one analysis can be run at the time and the light signal becomes diluted. This problem has been addressed by designing a strategy in which the luciferase was genetically fused to a DNA binding domain (Klenow or SSB) and purification handle (Z_{basic}) that could specifically be removed by enzymatic cleavage [114] (Fig. 4). After purification the fusion proteins were analyzed by complete extension using pyrosequencing chemistry. In these experiments, paramagnetic beads with attached ssDNA to which a primer had been annealed were incubated with the fusion proteins, Zbasic-SSB-Luciferase, SSB-Luciferase, Zbasic-Klenow-Luciferase and Klenow-Luciferase, respectively. The proteins were allowed to bind the immobilized DNA and free protein was removed. A pyrosequencing mixture devoid of Luciferase and in the case of Klenow fusions also lacking Klenow, was added to the beads. The mixture contained all four nucleotides so that, DNA synthesis would take place on the primed template in presence of polymerase and resulting in light emission in case of luciferase activity. All tested proteins bound selectively to the immobilized DNA and

their enzymatic domains were active. These results promisingly suggest that with more sophisticated detection systems, such as a highly sensitive CCD camera, these proteins could by used on miniaturized formats such as nano-liter filter chamber or ultimately on DNA microarrays. Alternatively, these fusion proteins may be employed in another microfluidic format introduced by 454 Life Sciences (http://www.454.com). Based on the pyrosequencing chemistry and the use of thousands of pico-liter wells on a PicoTiter Plate, 454 Life Sciences has created a massively parallel sequencing system that claims to be able to sequence 10 Mbp genomes.

6. Concluding remarks

Pyrosequencing is a DNA sequencing technology based on real-time detection of DNA synthesis monitored by bioluminescence. Four enzymes are exploited by the technology and a fifth protein, SSB, can be included to enhance the quality of the obtained sequences and thereby prolong the read length. The pyrosequencing technology has been used in a broad range of applications such as SNP genotyping, *de novo* mutation detection, gene identification and microbial genotyping. We believe that the pyrosequencing technology possesses several unique features which



Fig. 4. (A) A schematic overview of the principle of using DNA-anchoring proteins for pyrosequencing. First the template is immobilized on a solid matrix (1). Thereafter the fusion protein is added, comprising of a DNA-anchoring part (Klenow (orange) or SSB (light blue)) and the luciferase (yellow). In the third step all other needed enzymes and nucleotides are added (3) and following primer extension measurable light will be produced. (B) A complete primer extension assay performed on DNA immobilized on magnetic beads is shown. The *x*-axis time in seconds and the *y*-axis denotes measured light signal in arbitrary units. Reactions where all four fusion proteins have been incubated with DNA-free beads is shown as curves parallel to the *x*-axis. The purification tag Z_{basic} is colored blue.

make this technique advantageous compared to other sequencing methods in a number of applications. In order to further expand the field of utility, increased throughput and sequence read length as well as the use of smaller reagent volumes are necessary and are currently developed. This amelioration of the technology very promisingly shows that the competitiveness of pyrosequencing is likely to increase in the future.

References

- Maxam AM, Gilbert W. A new method for sequencing DNA. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1977;74:560–4.
- [2] Sanger F, Nicklen S, Coulson AR. DNA sequencing with chainterminating inhibitors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1977;74:5463-7.
- [3] Venter JC, et al. The sequence of the human genome. Science 2001;291:1304-51.
- [4] Lander ES, et al. Initial sequencing and analysis of the human genome. Nature 2001;409:860–921.
- [5] Jacobson KB, et al. Applications of mass spectrometry to DNA sequencing. Genet Anal Tech Appl 1991;8:223–9.
- [6] Murray KK. DNA sequencing by mass spectrometry. J Mass Spectrom 1996;31:1203–15.
- [7] Southern EM. Detection of specific sequences among DNA fragments separated by gel electrophoresis. J Mol Biol 1975;98:503-17.
- [8] Lysov Iu P, et al. Determination of the nucleotide sequence of DNA using hybridization with oligonucleotides. A new method. Dokl Akad Nauk SSSR 1988;303:1508–11.
- [9] Drmanac R, et al. Sequencing of megabase plus DNA by hybridization: theory of the method. Genomics 1989;4:114–28.
- [10] Ronaghi M, Uhlen M, Nyren P. A sequencing method based on realtime pyrophosphate. Science 1998; 281: 363, 365.
- [11] Tibanyenda N, et al. The effect of single base-pair mismatches on the duplex stability of d(T-A-T-T-A-A-T-A-T-A-T-A-G-T-T-G).d(C-A-A-C-T-T-G-A-T-A-T-A-A-T-A). Eur J Biochem 1984;139:19–27.
- [12] Egholm M, et al. PNA hybridizes to complementary oligonucleotides obeying the Watson-Crick hydrogen-bonding rules. Nature 1993; 365:566-8.
- [13] Buchardt O, et al. Peptide nucleic acids and their potential applications in biotechnology. Trends Biotechnol 1993;11:384-6.
- [14] Demidov VV. PNA and LNA throw light on DNA. Trends Biotechnol 2003;21:4–7.
- [15] Dolan M, et al. Large-scale genomic sequencing: optimization of genomic chemical sequencing reactions. BioTechniques 1995; 19: 264–268, 270–264.
- [16] Zhou H, et al. DNA sequencing up to 1300 bases in two hours by capillary electrophoresis with mixed replaceable linear polyacrylamide solutions. Anal Chem 2000;72:1045-52.
- [17] Ahmadian A, et al. Single-nucleotide polymorphism analysis by pyrosequencing. Anal Biochem 2000;280:103-10.
- [18] Alderborn A, Kristofferson A, Hammerling U. Determination of single-nucleotide polymorphisms by real-time pyrophosphate DNA sequencing. Genome Res 2000;10:1249–58.
- [19] Gustafsson AC, et al. HPV-related cancer susceptibility and p53 codon 72 polymorphism. Acta Derm Venereol 2001;81:125–9.
- [20] Gustafsson AC, et al. Screening and scanning of single nucleotide polymorphisms in the pig melanocortin 1 receptor gene (MC1R) by pyrosequencing. Anim Biotechnol 2001;12:145–53.
- [21] Milan D, et al. A mutation in PRKAG3 associated with excess glycogen content in pig skeletal muscle. Science 2000;288: 1248-51.
- [22] Unnerstad H, et al. Pyrosequencing as a method for grouping of listeria monocytogenes strains on the basis of single-nucleotide

polymorphisms in the inlB Gene. Appl Environ Microbiol 2001;67: 5339-42.

- [23] Vorechovsky I, et al. Does 77C→G in PTPRC modify autoimmune disorders linked to the major histocompatibility locus? Nat Genet 2001;29:22-3.
- [24] Ahmadian A, et al. Analysis of the p53 tumor suppressor gene by pyrosequencing. BioTechniques 2000; 28: 140–144, 146–147.
- [25] Chapman KL, et al. Mutations in the region encoding the von Willebrand factor A domain of matrilin-3 are associated with multiple epiphyseal dysplasia. Nat Genet 2001;28:393–6.
- [26] Garcia CA, et al. Mutation detection by pyrosequencing: sequencing of exons 5–8 of the p53 tumor suppressor gene. Gene 2000;253: 249–57.
- [27] Van Goethem G, et al. Mutation of POLG is associated with progressive external ophthalmoplegia characterized by mtDNA deletions. Nat Genet 2001;28:211–2.
- [28] Monstein H, Nikpour-Badr S, Jonasson J. Rapid molecular identification and subtyping of *Helicobacter pylori* by pyrosequencing of the 16S rDNA variable V1 and V3 regions. FEMS Microbiol Lett 2001;199:103-7.
- [29] O'Meara D, et al. Monitoring resistance to human immunodeficiency virus type 1 protease inhibitors by pyrosequencing. J Clin Microbiol 2001;39:464–73.
- [30] Nygren M, et al. Quantification of HIV-1 using multiple quantitative polymerase chain reaction standards and bioluminometric detection. Anal Biochem 2001;288:28–38.
- [31] Andreasson H, et al. Mitochondrial sequence analysis for forensic identification using pyrosequencing technology. BioTechniques 2002; 32: 124–126, 128, 130–123.
- [32] Agaton C, et al. Gene expression analysis by signature pyrosequencing. Gene 2002;289:31–9.
- [33] Mullis K, et al. Specific enzymatic amplification of DNA in vitro: the polymerase chain reaction. Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol 1986;51:263–73.
- [34] Wahlberg J, et al. Automated magnetic preparation of DNA templates for solid phase sequencing. Electrophoresis 1992;13:547–51.
- [35] Melamede RJ. U. S. Patent 4863849. 1985.
- [36] Nyren P. Enzymatic method for continuous monitoring of DNA polymerase activity. Anal Biochem 1987;167:235–8.
- [37] Hyman ED. A new method of sequencing DNA. Anal Biochem 1988;174:423-36.
- [38] Li Z, et al. A photocleavable fluorescent nucleotide for DNA sequencing and analysis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2003;100: 414-9.
- [39] Mitra RD, et al. Fluorescent in situ sequencing on polymerase colonies. Anal Biochem 2003;320:55–65.
- [40] Klenow H, Overgaard-Hansen K, Patkar SA. Proteolytic cleavage fo native DNA polymerase into two different catalytic fragments. Influence of assay conditions on the change of exonuclease activity and polymerase activity accompanying cleavage. Eur J Biochem 1971;22:371–81.
- [41] Segel IH, Renosto F, Seubert PA. Sulfate-activating enzymes. Methods Enzymol 1987;143:334–49.
- [42] Deluca M. Firefly luciferase. Adv Enzymol Relat Areas Mol Biol 1976;44:37–68.
- [43] Komoszynski M, Wojtczak A. Apyrases (ATP diphosphohydrolases, EC 3.6.1.5): function and relationship to ATPases. Biochim Biophys Acta 1996;1310:233–41.
- [44] Kornberg A. DNA replication. J Biol Chem 1988;263:1-4.
- [45] Derbyshire V, et al. Genetic and crystallographic studies of the 3',5'-exonucleolytic site of DNA polymerase I. Science 1988;240: 199–201.
- [46] Hopfield JJ. Kinetic proofreading: a new mechanism for reducing errors in biosynthetic processes requiring high specificity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1974;71:4135–9.
- [47] Bryant FR, Johnson KA, Benkovic SJ. Elementary steps in the DNA polymerase I reaction pathway. Biochemistry 1983;22:3537–46.

- [48] Mizrahi V, et al. Rate-limiting steps in the DNA polymerase I reaction pathway. Biochemistry 1985;24:4010-8.
- [49] Kuchta RD, et al. Kinetic mechanism of DNA polymerase I (Klenow). Biochemistry 1987;26:8410-7.
- [50] Frey MW, et al. The nucleotide analog 2-aminopurine as a spectroscopic probe of nucleotide incorporation by the Klenow fragment of *Escherichia coli* polymerase I and bacteriophage T4 DNA polymerase. Biochemistry 1995;34:9185–92.
- [51] Kuchta RD, Benkovic P, Benkovic SJ. Kinetic mechanism whereby DNA polymerase I (Klenow) replicates DNA with high fidelity. Biochemistry 1988;27:6716–25.
- [52] Ahmadian A, et al. Genotyping by apyrase-mediated allele-specific extension. Nucleic Acids Res 2001;29:E121.
- [53] Renosto F, et al. ATP sulfurylase from higher plants: kinetic and structural characterization of the chloroplast and cytosol enzymes from spinach leaf. Arch Biochem Biophys 1993;307:272–85.
- [54] Brandan E, Hirschberg CB. Purification of rat liver N-heparan-sulfate sulfotransferase. J Biol Chem 1988;263:2417–22.
- [55] Karamohamed S, et al. Production, purification, and luminometric analysis of recombinant *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* MET3 adenosine triphosphate sulfurylase expressed in Escherichia coli. Protein Expr Purif 1999;15:381–8.
- [56] de Wet JR, et al. Cloning of firefly luciferase cDNA and the expression of active luciferase in Escherichia coli. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1985;82:7870–3.
- [57] de Wet JR, et al. Cloning firefly luciferase. Methods Enzymol 1986;133:3-14.
- [58] Tatsumi H, Kajiyama N, Nakano E. Molecular cloning and expression in *Escherichia coli* of a cDNA clone encoding luciferase of a firefly, *Luciola lateralis*. Biochim Biophys Acta 1992;1131:161–5.
- [59] Tatsumi H, et al. Luciferase cDNA from Japanese firefly, Luciola cruciata: cloning, structure and expression in Escherichia coli. J Biolumin Chemilumin 1989;3:75–8.
- [60] Devine JH, et al. Luciferase from the east European firefly Luciola mingrelica: cloning and nucleotide sequence of the cDNA, overexpression in Escherichia coli and purification of the enzyme. Biochim Biophys Acta 1993;1173:121–32.
- [61] Sala-Newby GB, Thomson CM, Campbell AK. Sequence and biochemical similarities between the luciferases of the glow-worm *Lampyris noctiluca* and the firefly *Photinus pyralis*. Biochem J 1996;313(Pt. 3):761–7.
- [62] Seliger HH, D MW. Spectral Emission and quantum yield of firefly bioluminiscence. Arch Biochem Biophys 1960;88:136–41.
- [63] Thompson JF, Hayes LS, Lloyd DB. Modulation of firefly luciferase stability and impact on studies of gene regulation. Gene 1991;103: 171-7.
- [64] Simpson WJ, Hammond JR. The effect of detergents on firefly luciferase reactions. J Biolumin Chemilumin 1991;6:97–106.
- [65] Kajiyama N, Nakano E. Thermostabilization of firefly luciferase by a single amino acid substitution at position 217. Biochemistry 1993;32:13795–9.
- [66] White PJ, et al. Improved thermostability of the North American firefly luciferase: saturation mutagenesis at position 354. Biochem J 1996;319:343-50.
- [67] Nielsen R, Rasmussen H. Fractionation of extracts of firefly tails by gel filtration. Acta Chem Scand 1968;22:1757–62.
- [68] Klofat W, et al. Production of adenosine triphosphate in normal cells and sporulation mutants of Bacillus subtilis. J Biol Chem 1969;244:3270-6.
- [69] Gates BJ, DeLuca M. The production of oxyluciferin during the firefly luciferase light reaction. Arch Biochem Biophys 1975;169: 616–21.
- [70] Beny M, Dolivo M. Separation of firefly luciferase using an anion exchanger. FEBS Lett 1976;70:167–70.
- [71] Branchini BR, Marschner TM, Montemurro AM. A convenient affinity chromatography-based purification of firefly luciferase. Anal Biochem 1980;104:386–96.

- [72] Filippova NY, Dukhovich AF, Ugarova NN. New approaches to the preparation and application of firefly luciferase. J Biolumin Chemilumin 1989;4:419–22.
- [73] Sala-Newby GB, Campbell AK. Expression of recombinant firefly luciferase in prokaryotic and eukaryotic cells. Biochem Soc Trans 1992;20:143.
- [74] Lindbladh C, Mosbach K, Bulow L. Preparation of a genetically fused protein A/luciferase conjugate for use in bioluminescent immunoassays. J Immunol Methods 1991;137:199–207.
- [75] Kobatake E, et al. Bioluminescent immunoassay with a protein Aluciferase fusion protein. Anal Biochem 1993;208:300–5.
- [76] Kettlun AM, et al. Purification and characterization of two isoapyrases from *Solanum tuberosum* var. ultimus. Phytochemistry 1992;31:3691-6.
- [77] Plesner L. Ecto-ATPases: identities and functions. Int Rev Cytol 1995;158:141-214.
- [78] Zimmermann H. Signalling via ATP in the nervous system. Trends Neurosci 1994;17:420-6.
- [79] Kaczmarek E, et al. Identification and characterization of CD39/vascular ATP diphosphohydrolase. J Biol Chem 1996;271:33116–22.
- [80] Marcus AJ, et al. The endothelial cell ecto-ADPase responsible for inhibition of platelet function is CD39. J Clin Invest 1997;99: 1351–60.
- [81] Wang TF, Guidotti G. CD39 is an ecto-(Ca2+, Mg2+)-apyrase. J Biol Chem 1996;271:9898–901.
- [82] Abeijon C, et al. Guanosine diphosphatase is required for protein and sphingolipid glycosylation in the Golgi lumen of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. J Cell Biol 1993;122:307–23.
- [83] Girolomoni G, et al. Epidermal Langerhans cells are resistant to the permeabilizing effects of extracellular ATP: in vitro evidence supporting a protective role of membrane ATPase. J Invest Dermatol 1993;100:282-7.
- [84] Bermudes D, et al. Tandemly repeated genes encode nucleoside triphosphate hydrolase isoforms secreted into the parasitophorous vacuole of *Toxoplasma gondii*. J Biol Chem 1994;269: 29252–60.
- [85] Zhong T, Luke MM, Arndt KT. Transcriptional regulation of the yeast DnaJ homologue SIS1. J Biol Chem 1996;271:1349–56.
- [86] Kettlun AM, et al. Identification and subcellular localization of two isoenzymes of apyrase from *Solanum tuberosum*. Phytochemistry 1992;31:1889–94.
- [87] Espinosa V, et al. Fluorescence studies of ATP-diphosphohydrolase from *Solanum tuberosum* var. Desiree. Phytochemistry 2000;54: 995-1001.
- [88] Lohman TM, Ferrari ME. Escherichia coli single-stranded DNAbinding protein: multiple DNA- binding modes and cooperativities. Annu Rev Biochem 1994;63:527–70.
- [89] Meyer RR, Laine PS. The single-stranded DNA-binding protein of *Escherichia coli*. Microbiol Rev 1990;54:342–80.
- [90] Chou Q. Minimizing deletion mutagenesis artifact during Taq DNA polymerase PCR by *E. coli* SSB. Nucleic Acids Res 1992;20:4371.
- [91] Dabrowski S, Kur J. Cloning, overexpression, and purification of the recombinant his-tagged SSB protein of *Escherichia coli* and use in polymerase chain reaction amplification. Protein Expr Purif 1999;16:96–102.
- [92] Oshima RG. Single-stranded DNA binding protein facilitates amplification of genomic sequences by PCR. BioTechniques 1992; 13:188.
- [93] Ball JK, Desselberger U. Incorporation of single-stranded DNA binding protein early in polymerase chain reaction product sequencing reactions prevents enzyme pausing. Anal Biochem 1992;207: 349-51.
- [94] Kieleczawa J, Dunn JJ, Studier FW. DNA sequencing by primer walking with strings of contiguous hexamers. Science 1992;258: 1787–91.
- [95] Nordstrom T, et al. Method enabling fast partial sequencing of cDNA clones. Anal Biochem 2001;292:266–71.

- [96] Ronaghi M. Improved performance of pyrosequencing using singlestranded DNA- binding protein. Anal Biochem 2000;286:282-8.
- [97] Kruckeberg KE, Thibodeau SN. Pyrosequencing technology as a method for the diagnosis of multiple endocrine neoplasia type 2. Clin Chem 2004;50:522–9.
- [98] Sivertsson A, et al. Pyrosequencing as an alternative to single-strand conformation polymorphism analysis for detection of N-ras mutations in human melanoma metastases. Clin Chem 2002;48:2164–70.
- [99] Sundstrom M, et al. Functional and phenotypic studies of two variants of a human mast cell line with a distinct set of mutations in the c-kit proto-oncogene. Immunology 2003;108:89–97.
- [100] Magnusson V, et al. Both risk alleles for FcgammaRIIA and FcgammaRIIIA are susceptibility factors for SLE: a unifying hypothesis. Genes Immun 2004;5:130–7.
- [101] Magnusson V, et al. Polymorphisms of the Fc gamma receptor type IIB gene are not associated with systemic lupus erythematosus in the Swedish population. Arthritis Rheum 2004;50:1348–50.
- [102] Odeberg J, et al. Molecular haplotyping by pyrosequencing. Biotechniques 2002;33:1104, 1106, 1108.
- [103] McCabe KM, et al. Amplification of bacterial DNA using highly conserved sequences: automated analysis and potential for molecular triage of sepsis. Pediatrics 1995;95:165–9.
- [104] Jonasson J, Olofsson M, Monstein HJ. Classification, identification and subtyping of bacteria based on pyrosequencing and signature matching of 16S rDNA fragments. Apmis 2002;110:263–72.

- [105] Gharizadeh B, et al. Multiple group-specific sequencing primers for reliable and rapid DNA sequencing. Mol Cell Probes 2003;17: 203-10.
- [106] Gharizadeh B, et al. Typing of human papillomavirus by pyrosequencing. Lab Invest 2001;81:673-9.
- [107] Gharizadeh B, et al. Multiple-primer DNA sequencing method. Electrophoresis 2003;24:1145-51.
- [108] Elahi E, et al. Determination of hepatitis C virus genotype by pyrosequencing. J Virol Methods 2003;109:171-6.
- [109] Pourmand N, et al. Multiplex pyrosequencing. Nucleic Acids Res 2002;30:e31.
- [110] Lindstrom A, Odeberg J, Albert J. Pyrosequencing for detection of lamivudine-resistant hepatitis B virus. J Clin Microbiol 2004;42:4788–95.
- [111] Velculescu VE, et al. Serial analysis of gene expression. Science 1995;270:484-7.
- [112] Andersson H, van der Wijngaart W, Stemme G. Micromachined filter-chamber array with passive valves for biochemical assays on beads. Electrophoresis 2001;22:249–57.
- [113] Ahmadian A, et al. SNP analysis by allele-specific extension in a micromachined filter chamber. BioTechniques 2002;32:748, 750, 752, 754.
- [114] Gräslund T, et al. Integrated strategy for selective expanded bed ionexchange adsorption and site-specific protein processing using gene fusion technology. J Biotechnol 2002;96:93-102.